





POSITION STATEMENT

Electronic cigarettes: A position statement from the Thoracic Society of Australia and New Zealand*

¹Department of Respiratory and Sleep Medicine, Austin Health, Melbourne, VIC, Australia; ²Institute for Breathing and Sleep, Melbourne, VIC, Australia; ³School of Medicine, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, VIC, Australia; ⁴Department of Respiratory Medicine, Middlemore Hospital, Counties Manukau District Health Board, Auckland, New Zealand; 5 Department of Medicine, University of Otago, Christchurch, New Zealand; 6School of Medicine and Public Health, University of Newcastle, Newcastle, NSW, Australia; School of Psychology, University of Wollongong, Wollongong, NSW, Australia; Illawarra Health and Medical Research Institute, University of Wollongong, Wollongong, NSW, Australia; School of Life Sciences, University of Technology Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia; 10 Woolcock Institute of Medical Research, University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia; 11 Australian Centre for Precision Health, Adelaide, SA, Australia; 12 School of Health Sciences, University of South Australia Cancer Research Institute, Adelaide, SA, Australia; ¹³School of Medicine, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA, Australia; 14 Translational Airways Group, School of Life Sciences, University of Technology Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia; ¹⁵Institute for Evidence-Based Healthcare, Bond University and Gold Coast University Hospital, Gold Coast, QLD, Australia; ¹⁶Department of Respiratory Medicine, Liverpool Hospital, Sydney, NSW, Australia; ¹⁷Clinical Management Group, Woolcock Institute of Medical Research, University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia; ¹⁸Department of Respiratory and Sleep Medicine, Prince of Wales Hospital, Sydney, NSW, Australia; ¹⁹Prince of Wales Clinical School, University of New South Wales, Sydney, NSW, Australia; ²⁰Department of Thoracic Medicine, Royal Adelaide Hospital, Adelaide, SA, Australia; ²¹Monash Lung and Sleep, Monash Medical Centre, Melbourne, VIC, Australia; ²²Telethon Kids Institute, Perth, WA, Australia; ²³School of Public Health, Curtin University, Perth, WA, Australia; ²⁴Thoracic Program, The Prince Charles Hospital, Metro North Hospital and Health Service, Brisbane, QLD, Australia; 25 UQ Thoracic Research Centre, Faculty of Medicine, The University of Queensland, Brisbane, QLD, Australia: 26 Child Health Division, Menzies School of Health Research, Charles Darwin University, Darwin, NT, Australia; 27 Department of Respiratory and Sleep Medicine, Royal Melbourne Hospital, Melbourne, VIC, Australia; ²⁸Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre, Melbourne, VIC, Australia; ²⁹Department of Paediatrics, University of Otago Christchurch, Christchurch, New Zealand; 30 Monash Children's Hospital, Melbourne, VIC, Australia; ³¹Department of Paediatrics, Monash University, Melbourne, VIC, Australia; ³²Centre for Healthy Lungs, Hunter Medical Research Institute, Newcastle, NSW, Australia; 33 Department of Thoracic Medicine, St Vincent's Hospital Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia; ³⁴Kinghorn Cancer Centre, St Vincent's Hospital, Sydney, NSW, Australia; ³⁵Faculty of Health, Arts and Design, Swinburne University of Technology, Melbourne, VIC, Australia; ³⁶Department of Respiratory Medicine, Concord Repatriation General Hospital, Sydney, NSW, Australia; 37 Faculty of Medicine and Health, University of Sydney, NSW, Australia; 38 Faculty of Medicine, Health and Human Sciences, Macquarie University, Sydney, NSW, Australia

ABSTRACT

The TSANZ develops position statements where insufficient data exist to write formal clinical guidelines. In 2018, the TSANZ addressed the question of potential benefits and health impacts of electronic cigarettes (EC).

The working party included groups focused on health impacts, smoking cessation, youth issues and priority populations. The 2018 report on the *Public Health Consequences of E-Cigarettes* from the United States NASEM was accepted as reflective of evidence to mid-2017.

Correspondence: Matthew J. Peters, Department of Respiratory Medicine, Concord Repatriation General Hospital, Level 7 West, Hospital Road, Concord, Sydney, NSW 2139, Australia. Email: matthew.peters@health.nsw.gov.au

*This document was endorsed by the Thoracic Society of Australia and New Zealand (TSANZ) Board in February 2020 after external review. *C.F.M., S.J. and M.J.P. contributed equally to this study. Received 19 February 2020; invited to revise 8 March 2020; revised 8 May 2020; accepted 11 June 2020

Handling Editors: Philip Bardin and Paul Reynolds

© 2020 The Authors.

Respirology (2020) 25, 1082-1089

Respirology published by John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd on behalf of Asian Pacific Society of Respirology. doi: 10.1111/resp.13904

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and is not used for commercial purposes.

A search for papers subsequently published in peerreviewed journals was conducted in August 2018. A small number of robust and important papers published until March 2019 were also identified and included. Groups identified studies that extended, modified or contradicted the NASEM report. A total of 3793 papers were identified and reviewed, with summaries and draft position statements developed and presented to TSANZ membership in April 2019. After feedback from members and external reviewers, a collection of position statements was finalized in December 2019. EC have adverse lung effects and harmful effects of long-term use are unknown. EC are unsuitable consumer products for recreational use, part-substitution for smoking or long-term exclusive use by former smokers. Smokers who require support to quit smoking should be directed towards approved medication in conjunction with behavioural support as having the strongest evidence for efficacy and safety. No specific EC product can be recommended as effective and safe for smoking cessation. Smoking cessation claims in relation to EC should be assessed by established regulators.

Key words: e-cigarettes, public health, smoking cessation, tobacco control, vaping.

CONTENTS

- Introduction
 - Tobacco smoking in Australia and New Zealand Harmful effects of smoking Purpose of this Position Paper
- The Regulatory Framework
- Health impacts of e-cigarettes
- Effects on smoking cessation
- Implications for children and young people
- Implications for at-risk groups
- Position of the TSANZ
- · Concluding remarks
- Appendix S1: Working Party Membership and Conflict of Interest Declarations
- Appendix S2: Methodology
- Appendix S3: Outbreak of acute lung injury associated with e-cigarette use

INTRODUCTION

Electronic cigarettes (e-cigarettes) are battery-operated devices which contain a heating element that vaporizes liquid solution. The user inhales or 'vapes' the aerosol produced through heating the liquid. E-cigarettes are also referred to as electronic nicotine delivery systems (ENDS) or electronic non-nicotine delivery systems (ENNDS) when they do not use nicotine-based solutions.

The liquid solution used in e-cigarettes contains propylene glycol and/or glycerine liquid to create the aerosol. The solution often contains flavourants and ENDS solutions contain nicotine.

Early attempts to develop e-cigarettes date to the 1960s, but the first device of the modern era was patented in 2003. E-cigarettes have been widely marketed since about 2006. Use of an e-cigarette is commonly termed 'vaping'.

Tobacco smoking in Australia and New Zealand

The advent of e-cigarettes has occurred after sustained success in reducing tobacco smoking rates in Australia and New Zealand.

Australia has led the world in implementing tobacco control measures including substantial increases in excise on tobacco products; education programmes; bans on smoking in indoor and, increasingly, outdoor public places; plain packaging of tobacco products; bans on retail displays of tobacco products; labelling with updated and larger graphic health warnings; prohibiting tobacco advertising, promotion and sponsorship; and providing support for smokers to quit including subsidized nicotine replacement therapy.^{2–5} The rates of regular smoking in Australia (that is either daily or at least weekly) have reduced from 27% in 1995 to 14% in 2016.⁶

Smoking rates in New Zealand Aotearoa are also reducing, with 12.5% of adults currently smoking daily compared to 25% in 1996–1997. In 2011, the New Zealand Government set a goal of Smokefree Aotearoa 2025, aiming to reduce smoking prevalence and tobacco availability to minimal levels and make New Zealand essentially a smoke-free nation by 2025. Strategies have included protecting children from exposure to tobacco marketing and promotion; reducing the supply of, and demand for, tobacco; and providing the best possible support for quitting.

Smoking by young people has fallen markedly. Smoking rates among young Australians aged 16-17 years declined from 30% in 1999 to 10% in 2014, while among those aged 12-15 years, the smoking rate declined from 15% to 3% during the same period. The prevalence of smoking among Australian teenagers in 2014 was at its lowest since surveys began more than 30 years earlier. Similar improvements have been achieved in New Zealand, where only 3% of young people aged 15-17 years smoked in 2017-2018, down from 16% in 2006-2007 and the daily smoking rate for 14-and 15-year olds fell to 2.1%, the lowest ever recorded.

Harmful effects of smoking

There is no dispute about the harmful effects and significant costs of tobacco smoking. Smoking causes the premature deaths of two-thirds of its long-term users. Respiratory diseases, notably lung cancer and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), dominate as causes of smoking-associated disability and premature mortality in both Australia and New Zealand.

In 2015–2016, the costs of smoking in Australia were estimated at \$136.9 billion and smoking was responsible for 20 032 premature deaths and approximately 1.7 million hospitalizations. ¹¹ In New Zealand, approximately one person dies from smoking every 2 hours, while in Australia approximately one person dies from smoking every half an hour. ^{12,13}

These harmful effects continue to occur despite the significant success in reducing rates of tobacco smoking in Australia and New Zealand, and it is imperative this progress continues. In recent years, the emergence of e-cigarettes has prompted discussion about whether these

1084 CF McDonald et al.

devices have a role in supporting smokers to quit or in reducing smoking prevalence rates.

Purpose of this position paper

The Thoracic Society of Australia and New Zealand (TSANZ) position papers reflect the position of the TSANZ where there are insufficient data to support a formal clinical guideline (particularly in areas of public health policy). In contrast to position papers, the TSANZ's guidelines must provide evidence-based recommendations for clinical practice, require a systematic review of the literature and use GRADE levels of evidence.

The TSANZ determined that a position paper was required on e-cigarettes, given the rapidly emerging research in this area, the recognition that the health effects of e-cigarettes are likely to only become fully understood over time and the scant evidence for their use in smoking cessation. This position paper was completed in accordance with the TSANZ requirements for the development of position papers as detailed in the TSANZ publication policy.

The TSANZ is dedicated to ensuring that Australian and New Zealand governments maintain their commitment to reducing smoking prevalence and to the implementation of comprehensive tobacco control measures that include population-wide strategies coupled with individual behavioural support, particularly for groups of people in whom smoking rates have not declined as quickly as they have in others. The TSANZ is committed to preventing and relieving the disability caused by lung disease. Consequently, we are steadfast in our aim to help people stop smoking completely. E-cigarettes are therefore of considerable interest to the TSANZ as we seek to further reduce the morbidity and mortality associated with lung disease. The purpose of this position paper is to outline the TSANZ's position with respect to e-cigarettes. The intended audience is both clinical and non-clinical readers.

This position paper addresses e-cigarettes that use both nicotine-containing and non-nicotine-containing liquids but does not consider 'heat-not-burn' products, a separate product category.

The TSANZ acknowledges the Public Health England Report on e-cigarettes.¹⁴ The TSANZ has considered and accepted the comprehensive report on the *Public Health Consequences of E-Cigarettes* from the United States National Academies of Sciences, Engineering and Medicine (NASEM), January 2018,¹⁵ as well as the June 2018 Literature Review Update from Australia's Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation (CSIRO)¹⁶ as better reflecting the published literature to August 2017 and March 2018, respectively. As such, these reports form the basis for the development of the TSANZ's position.

In developing this position paper, we reviewed the literature to determine if there were new studies that subsequently extended or challenged the findings of the NASEM report. In particular, we reviewed literature predominantly, but not exclusively, post-dating August 2017, that assessed e-cigarettes with respect to:

- 1. Health impacts,
- 2. Effects on smoking cessation,

- 3. Effects on children and young people including the impact of both nicotine- and non-nicotine-containing products on developing lungs and
- 4. Effects on at-risk groups which included:
 - Aboriginal, Torres Strait Islanders, Maori, Pasifika peoples,
 - Prisoners (or those recently released),
 - People with mental illness,
 - · Alcohol and other drug treatment clients and
 - · Pregnant women.

Working party membership is listed in Supplementary Appendix S1 and Methodology is outlined in Supplementary Appendix S2.

THE REGULATORY FRAMEWORK

In Australia, the regulation of e-cigarettes is a responsibility shared between Commonwealth and State and Territory Governments across multiple sets of legislation relating to tobacco products, therapeutic goods, poisons and consumer goods. The regulatory frameworks are different in each state and territory. Whereas in New Zealand nicotine-containing e-cigarettes are available as a consumer product, this is not the case in Australia, where e-cigarettes can be purchased as a consumer product, but nicotine cannot. In New Zealand, the *Medicines Act 1981* and the *Smoke-Free Environments Act 1990* regulate the sale, advertising and use of vaping products, including nicotine liquids.

It is illegal in both New Zealand and Australia to sell an e-cigarette while making a claim about therapeutic benefit for smoking cessation unless the product has been approved for that purpose by the Therapeutic Goods Administration (Australia) or Medsafe (New Zealand). In both Australia and New Zealand, e-cigarettes are currently sold as consumer products and not as therapeutic goods.

Smoking cessation products have been subject to stringent regulation through government-managed processes. Regulated therapeutic goods are manufactured under strict codes such as Good Manufacturing Practice to ensure product consistency and quality. E-cigarettes are not regulated as a therapeutic product.

Regulation is the role of government. The Institute for Global Tobacco Control website (https://globaltobaccocontrol.org/e-cigarette_policyscan) provides a detailed overview of how governments internationally have approached the regulation of ecigarettes. ¹⁷ There is no current evidence on the most effective regulatory framework for e-cigarettes.

HEALTH IMPACTS OF E-CIGARETTES

Drawing conclusions about absolute exposure levels and associated risk based on comparisons between ecigarettes and combustible tobacco use is not possible. There are thousands of e-liquid solution variants and a range of devices with different settings. Exposure to certain toxins in e-cigarettes has been demonstrated to be less than that experienced with conventional cigarette use, whilst for others exposure is greater. ¹⁵

Although the NASEM report concluded that there was no available evidence regarding whether e-cigarettes cause respiratory diseases in humans, we identified two subsequently published studies which compared the spectrum of bronchial proteins in nonsmokers, smokers and e-cigarette users. They demonstrated alterations in the bronchial proteome and identified changes unique to e-cigarettes, including markers of an aberrant neutrophilic response. ^{18,19} In vivo studies have identified specific e-cigarette flavourants that have potential adverse effects on human health, ^{20,21} and a study in humans showed addition of a flavourant led to increased plasma nicotine levels. ²²

A recent prospective cohort study, based on a large sample of current or former smokers, found that e-cigarettes used alone or in combination with tobacco cigarettes, compared to smoking tobacco cigarettes alone did not substantially improve self-reported health over 4 years of follow-up or decrease the rate of diseases potentially related to tobacco.²³ Nonetheless, the authors acknowledged that the follow-up period may have been too short to detect long-term effects.

The NASEM report concluded that the implications for long-term effects on morbidity and mortality are not yet clear and noted substantial evidence that e-cigarette aerosol induces cellular dysfunction and can promote the formation of reactive oxygen species/oxidative stress. It also noted, however, that the generation of reactive oxygen species and oxidative stress is generally lower from e-cigarettes than from combustible tobacco smoke. The studies identified above further support the NASEM assessment that lung disease is a biologically plausible potential outcome of long-term exposure to e-cigarette vapour.

Continued smoking is seen in the majority of e-cigarette users.²⁴ There is sparse evidence in humans of the health outcomes in these dual users of e-cigarettes and tobacco. The NASEM report noted a lack of clarity regarding the balance of positive and negative effects of e-cigarettes on respiratory health, concluding that there is limited evidence for improvement in lung function and respiratory symptoms among adult smokers with asthma who switch to e-cigarettes completely or in part (dual use) and for reduction of COPD exacerbations among adult smokers with COPD who switch to e-cigarettes completely or in part.

Isolated case studies and case series have described adverse effects of e-cigarettes on a range of non-respiratory outcomes including accidental poisoning from e-liquids, ²⁵ acute nicotine toxicity from excessive vaping ²⁶ and increased periodontal inflammation. ²⁷

During the process of finalization of this document, a substantial number of cases of severe, acute lung injury in e-cigarette users have been reported in the United States. A summary of this outbreak is provided in Appendix S3 (Supplementary Information).

Non-respiratory adverse effects of e-cigarettes from malfunction of the devices have been identified, including lacerations and burns that have resulted from explosions. ^{28–30}

There is little evidence about the effects of e-cigarette use on pregnancy and foetal health.

Research on the effects of second-hand exposure to e-cigarette aerosols has been challenged by difficulty in

creating an effective model of exposure—due to a range of factors including heterogeneity of apparatus and juices, adjustable power settings and varying puff parameters.

The long-term health impact of e-cigarettes remains largely unknown. Given the known short- to mid-term adverse health effects and the risk that chronic lung disease will develop over time, e-cigarettes should not be used by children or non-smokers. Their use by smokers is addressed in the following section on smoking cessation.

EFFECTS ON SMOKING CESSATION

The NASEM¹⁵ and CSIRO¹⁶ reports, together with reports from Australia's National Health and Medical Research Council³¹ and a European Respiratory Society Task Force,³² all conclude that there is limited evidence that e-cigarettes are effective in promoting smoking cessation and a lack of evidence as to whether e-cigarettes are more or less effective than existing approved cessation aids or no treatment.

A literature search identified five additional randomized controlled trials relevant to smoking cessation published since the finalization of the 2018 NASEM report. The trials were heterogeneous in study population and design. In two studies of smokers motivated to quit, one showed an increase in stopping rates with ecigarettes, with or without nicotine, compared to lowintensity counselling,³³ but the other found no incremental effect when e-cigarettes were added to combined nicotine replacement therapy and counselling.34 Three studies investigated smokers not motivated to quit. They found that the addition of free e-cigarettes to usual care (information and motivational text messages) did not increase sustained smoking abstinence;35 provision of free e-cigarettes for use entirely at the discretion of participants did not significantly influence quit attempts or biologically verified abstinence:36 and randomization to ad libitum nicotine-containing rather than non-nicotine-containing e-cigarettes did not reduce regular cigarette use.³⁷

A recent randomized trial investigated the efficacy of ecigarettes compared with nicotine replacement therapy, in addition to face-to-face cessation counselling, in smokers attending a smoking cessation service. At 1 year, the rate of continuous abstinence from smoking traditional cigarettes among e-cigarette users was 18.0% compared to 9.9% in the nicotine replacement group (relative risk: 1.83; 95% CI: 1.30–2.58; P < 0.001). However, after 1 year, 80% of e-cigarette users continued to use e-cigarettes, whereas 9% of nicotine replacement therapy users were still using nicotine replacement.

A time series analysis in the United Kingdom found no significant association between changes in the use of ecigarettes between 2006 and 2016 and rates of smoking and daily cigarette consumption.³⁹ It concluded that if ecigarette use had any effect on cigarette smoking, the effect was likely to be very small at a population level.

Most smokers quit smoking unassisted, 40 but effective healthcare advice and the appropriate use of proven and well-regulated products are essential in providing support for many smokers seeking assistance

1086 CF McDonald et al.

in quitting. Guidelines are available for health professionals to assist them in providing expert care. 41,42 If health practitioners are unable to support smokers, they should refer them to appropriate expert care.

Smokers seeking to quit require access to qualified, personal behavioural support regardless of whether they use existing therapies. Smokers who enquire about using e-cigarettes as a cessation aid should be provided with appropriate information about approved medication in conjunction with behavioural support (as these have the strongest evidence of efficacy to date). E-cigarettes are not the first-line treatment for smoking cessation. However, for smokers who express a desire to use e-cigarettes for cessation, health professionals should ensure they have access to, and are utilizing, behavioural support with the aim of achieving complete smoking cessation and subsequent cessation of e-cigarette use as promptly as possible.

IMPLICATIONS FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE

The NASEM report found substantial evidence that ecigarette use results in young people taking up smoking of conventional cigarettes (the gateway effect). The reports from the CSIRO, HMMRC³¹ and European Respiratory Society Task Force³² agreed. The Forum of International Respiratory Societies recommends that, to protect youth, e-cigarettes should be considered as tobacco products and regulated as such. The addictive power of nicotine, particularly in the developing adolescent brain, and its adverse effects should not be underestimated. The Forum stated that flavourings further encourage use by young people.

The United States Surgeon General concluded that ecigarette use among youth and young adults is a public health concern. 44 In 2014, use of e-cigarettes by young adults aged 18–24 years in the United States exceeded that of adults aged 25 years or over. The Surgeon General concluded that e-cigarette use is strongly associated with the use of other tobacco products among youth and young adults, including combustible tobacco products.

One hundred and ninety-four papers concerning the implications of e-cigarettes for children and young people published since the NASEM report were consistent with the NASEM findings. Many provided additional supportive data. Seven reports challenged the cautionary approach recommended by the NASEM analysis. 45-51

IMPLICATIONS FOR AT-RISK GROUPS

Smoking rates are higher than average in some population groups including Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander and Māori and Pasifika peoples. Smoking rates are also elevated in people with mental illness or substance-use disorder and people in correctional facilities. Women who are pregnant, or are planning to become pregnant, have special health needs relating to smoking.

We considered any studies published after the NASEM report reporting on the groups identified above in which e-cigarettes were considered as a cessation aid, attitudes towards e-cigarettes were examined or the level of use was assessed. We conclude that, due to the low quality of evidence, it is uncertain whether ecigarettes are effective for smoking cessation in populations with high smoking rates.⁵² Individual studies, reported both before and since the NASEM review, varying in sample size from 12 to 84 participants showed some sustained reduction in the number of cigarettes smoked at 1 year (similar to the efficacy to a nicotine replacement patch), 53,54 reduced tobacco use at 9 weeks, 55 acceptability as a form of nicotine replacement therapy in alcohol-dependent patients during a hospital admission,⁵⁶ acceptability and some efficacy in military veterans receiving psychiatric services⁵⁷ and reduced smoking rates at 6 weeks in people with severe mental illness.58

A 2015 review on behalf of the United States Preventive Services Task Force examined e-cigarette use in all adults. ⁵⁹ It identified no specific studies on the impact on smoking cessation in pregnant women and stated that the effects of e-cigarette ingredients on the foetus are unknown. Five studies published since this review examined attitudes to e-cigarette use in groups that included pregnant women, people with mental illness and Māori and Pasifika people in New Zealand. ⁶⁰⁻⁶⁴ They identified positive views about e-cigarettes. Participants considered them safer than tobacco products.

The prevalence of e-cigarette use in at-risk populations has been assessed in a number of studies. It was estimated that 11–13% of pregnant women in the United States had prior or current use and 0.6% currently used them daily. In American patients hospitalized for mental illness, the prevalence of e-cigarette use increased from zero in 2009 to 25% in 2013. Americans found people with mental illness were 1.5 times more likely to have ever used e-cigarettes and almost twice as likely to be current users compared to people without mental illness. Among Americans with drug- and alcohol-use disorders, two studies showed 30–34% had used e-cigarettes in the last 30 days, while another found that 17.7% used them at least weekly.

A study of 390 Indigenous Australians, of whom 184 were current smokers and 75 former smokers, found that only 7 (2%) were currently using e-cigarettes.⁷¹ In a 2013–2014 survey, 21% of Indigenous smokers had tried an e-cigarette, virtually identical to the rate of 20% in all Australian smokers.⁵

The literature and evidence base for cessation, acceptability and prevalence for each population were sparse and the quality of the studies was not sufficiently robust to enable conclusions to be drawn. Given the burden of smoking in these populations, further high-quality research utilizing e-cigarettes and existing cessation aids is urgently required.

POSITION OF THE TSANZ

The TSANZ embarked upon the development of this position paper having accepted the NASEM report as the most comprehensive review on e-cigarettes to date. After reviewing recent literature on e-cigarettes, it is the position of the TSANZ that there is, at present, insufficient evidence to refute the findings of the

NASEM report. We believe that this position statement is also fully consistent with relevant sections of the 2020 report of the US Surgeon General on Smoking Cessation. ²⁴

The TSANZ, with its particular concern with respiratory health, has taken the position that:

- 1. All smokers should be able to easily access effective, existing cessation treatments complemented by behavioural support services.
- 2. Access to effective, adequately funded smoking cessation support services is particularly important for those smokers in population groups where the prevalence rates have remained high.
- Smokers who enquire about using e-cigarettes as a cessation aid should be provided with appropriate information about approved medication in conjunction with behavioural support (as these have the strongest evidence for efficacy and safety).
- 4. For smokers who express a desire to use e-cigarettes for cessation, health professionals should ensure the smokers have access to, and are utilizing, behavioural support with the aim of achieving complete smoking cessation and subsequent cessation of e-cigarette use as promptly as possible. It should be clearly communicated that no product can be recommended, and nor can an assurance be provided as to either effectiveness or safety.
- 5. As e-cigarettes have been demonstrated to cause adverse lung effects and their safety for long-term use is unknown, they should not be used by non-smokers or for extended periods by ex-smokers. E-cigarettes, whether containing nicotine or not, are not suitable consumer products.
- 6. Australia and New Zealand must take every action to prevent burgeoning use of e-cigarettes in young people as has occurred in other countries. The sale or supply of e-cigarettes, e-liquids and devices to people under the age of 18 years should not be permitted and active surveillance is required by bodies responsible for enforcing this.
- 7. Flavours in e-liquids are attractive to young people and never smokers. Bans on flavourings should be actively considered by governments.
- 8. As Australia and New Zealand both have wellestablished processes to manage products making a therapeutic claim, we recommend that any product about which a therapeutic claim regarding smoking cessation is made be managed through these processes.
- Noting existing regulations in Australia and New Zealand, there is a clear need for the development of a more comprehensive regulatory framework for both e-cigarette devices and e-liquids.
- 10. Further high-quality research is urgently required, including regarding the potential risks and benefits of e-cigarette use in groups with higher rates of smoking and those with special health needs.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Australia and New Zealand must remain focused on *proven* effective population tobacco control strategies to reduce prevalence rates. We must also ensure

smokers have access to behavioural support and, where required, therapeutic products which have been through stringent regulatory approval processes.

TSANZ reconfirms its commitment to Article 5.3 of the World Health Organization (WHO) Framework Convention on Tobacco Control: 'In setting and implementing their public health policies with respect to tobacco control, parties shall act to protect these policies from commercial and other vested interests of the tobacco industry in accordance with national law'.

Abbreviations: CSIRO, Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation; EC, e-cigarette; ENDS, electronic nicotine delivery system; NASEM, National Academies of Sciences, Engineering and Medicine; TSANZ, Thoracic Society of Australia and New Zealand

REFERENCES

- 1 Australian Government Department of Health. Non-nicotine liquids for e-cigarette devices in Australia: chemistry and health concerns. 2019. National Industrial Chemicals Notification and Assessment Scheme. Available from URL: https://www.industrialchemicals.gov. au/consumers-and-community/e-cigarettes-and-personal-vaporisers
- 2 Australian Government Department of Health. Evaluation of effectiveness of graphic health warnings on tobacco product packaging. An Evaluation Report [Internet]. Canberra. 2018. [Accessed 8 May 2020.] Available from URL: https://www.health.gov.au/resources/publications/evaluation-of-effectiveness-of-graphic-health-warnings-on-tobacco-product-packaging
- 3 Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Alcohol, tobacco & other drugs in Australia [Internet]. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. 2020. [Accessed 8 May 2020.] Available from URL: https:// www.aihw.gov.au/reports/alcohol/alcohol-tobacco-other-drugs-australia
- 4 Greenhalgh EM, Grace C. Tobacco advertising and promotion. In: Scollo MM, Winstanley MH (eds) *Tobacco in Australia: Facts and Issues*. Melbourne, Cancer Council Victoria, 2016. Available from URL https://www.tobaccoinaustralia.org.au/chapter-11-advertising.
- 5 Greenhalgh EM, Stillman S, Ford C. 7.6 How smokers go about quitting. In: Scollo MM, Winstanley MH (eds) *Tobacco in Australia:* Facts and Issues. Melbourne, Cancer Council Victoria, 2018. Available from http://www.tobaccoinaustralia.org.au/7-3-the-process-of-quitting.
- 6 Greenhalgh EM, Scollo M, Winstanley MH. 1.3 Prevalence of smoking—adults. In: *Tobacco in Australia: Facts and issues*, 1st edn. Melbourne, Cancer Council Victoria, 2019.
- 7 Health Promotion Agency. Smokefree New Zealand: Facts and Figures. 2019. [Accessed 30 Jan 2020.] Available from URL: https:// www.smokefree.org.nz/smoking-its-effects/facts-figures
- 8 New Zealand Ministry of Health. Smokefree Aotearoa 2025 Health Effects of Smoking [Internet]. 2020. [Accessed May 2020.] Available from URL: https://www.health.govt.nz/our-work/preventative-health-wellness/tobacco-control/smokefree-aotearoa-2025
- 9 Greenhalgh EM, Scollo M, Winstanley MH. 1.6 Prevalence of smoking—teenagers. In: *Tobacco in Australia: Facts and Issues*, 1st edn. Melbourne, Cancer Council Victoria, 2019. Available from URL: http://www.tobaccoinaustralia.org.au.
- 10 Banks E, Joshy G, Weber M, Liu B, Grenfell R, Egger S, Paige E, Lopez AD, Sitas F, Beral V. Tobacco smoking and all-cause mortality in a large Australian cohort study: findings from a mature epidemic with current low smoking prevalence. *BMC Med.* 2015; 13: 38.
- 11 Whetton S, Tait R, Scollo M, Banks E, Chapman J, Dey T, Halim SA, Makate M, McEntee A, Muhktar A et al. Identifying the Social Costs of Tobacco Use to Australia in 2015/16. Perth, Australia, National Drug Research Institute, 2019.

1088 CF McDonald et al.

12 New Zealand Ministry of Health. Health effects of smoking [Internet]. [Accessed February 2 2019.] Available from URL: https://www.health.govt.nz/your-health/healthy-living/addictions/smoking/health-effects-smoking.

- 13 Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Burden of tobacco use in Australia: Australian Burden of Disease Study 2015. Australian Burden of Disease Series No. 21. Cat. No. BOD 20. Canberra: AIHW, 2019.
- 14 McNeill A, Brose LS, Calder R, Bauld L, Robson D. Evidence Review of E-Cigarettes and Heated Tobacco Products. London, Public Health England, 2018.
- 15 National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. Public Health Consequences of E-Cigarettes. Washington, DC, The National Academies Press, 2018.
- 16 Byrne S, Brindal E, Williams G, Anastasiou K, Tonkin A, Battams S, Riley M. E-Cigarettes, Smoking and Health. A Literature Review Update. Canberra, CSIRO, 2018.
- 17 Institute for Global Tobacco Control. Country Laws Regulating E-Cigarettes: A Policy Scan. Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health. [Accessed May 18 2020.] Available from URL: https://www.globaltobaccocontrol.org/e-cigarette_policyscan
- 18 Ghosh A, Coakley R, Mascenik T, Rowell T, Davis E, Rogers K, Webster MJ, Dang H, Herring LE, Sassano MF et al. Chronic E-cigarette exposure alters the human bronchial epithelial proteome. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 2018; 198: 67–76.
- 19 Chaumont M, Bernard A, Pochet S, Melot C, El Khattabi C, Reye F, Boudjeltia K, Van Antwerpen P, Delporte C, van de Borne P. Highwattage E-cigarettes induce tissue hypoxia and lower airway injury: a randomized clinical trial. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 2018; 198: 123-6.
- 20 Clapp P, Pawlak E, Lackey J, Keating J, Reeber S, Glish G, Jaspers I. Flavored e-cigarette liquids and cinnamaldehyde impair respiratory innate immune cell function. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol. 2017; 313: L278-92.
- 21 Sherwood CL, Boitano S. Airway epithelial cell exposure to distinct e-cigarette liquid flavorings reveals toxicity thresholds and activation of CFTR by the chocolate flavoring 2,5-dimethylpyrazine. Respir. Res. 2016; 17: 57.
- 22 St Helen G, Dempsey D, Havel C, Jacob P, Benowitz N. Impact of e-liquid flavors on nicotine intake and pharmacology of e-cigarettes. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2017; 178: 391–8.
- 23 Flacco M, Ferrante M, Fiore M, Marzuillo C, La Vecchia C, Gualano M, Liguori G, Fragassi G, Carradori T, Bravi F et al. Cohort study of electronic cigarette use: safety and effectiveness after 4 years of follow-up. Eur. Rev. Med. Pharmacol. Sci. 2019; 23: 402-12.
- 24 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Smoking cessation. A Report of the Surgeon General. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Office on Smoking and Health, 2020.
- 25 Mowry J, Spyker D, Brooks D, Zimmerman A, Schauben J. 2015 Annual Report of the American Association of Poison Control Centers' National Poison Data System (NPDS): 33rd Annual Report. Clin. Toxicol. (Phila.) 2016; 54: 924–1109.
- 26 Richmond SA, Pike I, Maguire JL, Macpherson A. E-cigarettes: a new hazard for children and adolescents. *Paediatr. Child Health* 2018: 23: 255–9.
- 27 Al-Aali KA, Airabiah M, ArRejaie AS, Abduljabbar T, Vohra F, Akram Z. Peri-implant parameters, tumor necrosis factor-alpha, and interleukin-1 beta levels in vaping individuals. Clin. Implant Dent. Relat. Res. 2018; 20: 410-5.
- 28 Toy J, Dong F, Lee C, Zappa D, Le T, Archambeau B, Culhane J, Neeki M. Alarming increase in electronic nicotine delivery systems-related burn injuries: a serious unregulated public health issue. Am. J. Emerg. Med. 2017; 35: 1781-2.
- 29 Hickey S, Goverman J, Friedstat J, Sheridan R, Schulz J. Thermal injuries from exploding electronic cigarettes. *Burns* 2018; 44: 1294–301.

30 Corey CG, Chang JT, Rostron BL. Electronic nicotine delivery system (ENDS) battery-related burns presenting to US emergency departments. *Inj. Epidemiol.* 2016; 5: 4.

- 31 National Health and Medical Research Council. CEO Statement: Electronic Cigarettes. 2017. [Accessed May 2020.] Available from URL: https://www.nhmrc.gov.au/about-us/resources/ceo-statement-electronic-cigarettes
- 32 Bals R, Boyd J, Esposito S, Foronjy R, Hiemstra P, Jiménez-Ruiz C, Katsaounou P, Lindberg A, Metz C, Schober W *et al.* Electronic cigarettes: a task force report from the European Respiratory Society. *Eur. Respir. J.* 2019; **53**: 1801151.
- 33 Masiero M, Lucchiari C, Mazzocco K, Veronesi G, Maisonneuve P, Jemos C, Salè E, Spina S, Bertolotti R, Pravettoni G. E-cigarettes may support smokers with high smoking-related risk awareness to stop smoking in the short run: preliminary results by randomized controlled trial. *Nicotine Tob. Res.* 2019; **21**: 119–26.
- 34 Baldassarri SR, Bernstein SL, Chupp GL, Slade MD, Fucito LM, Toll BA. Electronic cigarettes for adults with tobacco dependence enrolled in a tobacco treatment program: a pilot study. *Addict. Behav.* 2018; **80**: 1–5.
- 35 Halpern S, Harhay M, Saulsgiver K, Brophy C, Troxel A, Volpp K. A pragmatic trial of E-cigarettes, incentives, and drugs for smoking cessation. N. Engl. J. Med. 2018; 378: 2302–10.
- 36 Carpenter MJ, Heckman BW, Wahlquist AE, Wagener TL, Goniewicz ML, Gray KM, Froeliger B, Cummings KM. A naturalistic, randomized pilot trial of E-cigarettes: uptake, exposure, and behavioral effects. *Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev.* 2017; 26: 1795–803.
- 37 Meier E, Wahlquist A, Heckman B, Cummings K, Froeliger B, Carpenter M. A pilot randomized crossover trial of electronic cigarette sampling among smokers. *Nicotine Tob. Res.* 2017; 19: 176–82
- 38 Hajek P, Phillips-Waller A, Przulj D, Pesola F, Myers Smith K, Bisal N, Li J, Parrott S, Sasieni P, Dawkins L *et al.* A randomized trial of E-cigarettes versus nicotine-replacement therapy. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 2019; **380**: 629–37.
- 39 Beard E, Brown J, Michie S, West R. Is prevalence of e-cigarette and nicotine replacement therapy use among smokers associated with average cigarette consumption in England? A time-series analysis. *BMJ Open* 2018; 8: e016046.
- 40 Greenhalgh EM, Stillman S, Ford C. 7.6 How smokers go about quitting. In: Scollo MM, Winstanley MH (eds) *Tobacco in Australia:* Facts and Issues. Melbourne, Cancer Council Victoria, 2016. Available from URL: http://www.tobaccoinaustralia.org.au.
- 41 The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. Supporting Smoking Cessation: A Guide for Health Professionals, 2nd edn. Melbourne, RACGP, 2019.
- 42 Ministry of Health. The New Zealand Guidelines for Helping People to Stop Smoking. Wellington: Ministry of Health. 2014. [Accessed May 2020.] Available from URL: https://www.health.govt.nz/publication/new-zealand-guidelines-helping-people-stop-smoking
- 43 Ferkol TW, Farber HJ, La Grutta S, Leone FT, Marshall HM, Neptune E, Pisinger C, Vanker A, Wisotzky M, Zabert GE et al. Electronic cigarette use in youths: a position statement of the Forum of International Respiratory Societies. Eur. Respir. J. 2018; 51: 1800278.
- 44 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. E-cigarette use among youth and young adults. A Report of the Surgeon General. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Office on Smoking and Health, 2016.
- 45 Warner KE, Mendez D. E-cigarettes: comparing the possible risks of increasing smoking initiation with the potential benefits of increasing smoking cessation. *Nicotine Tob. Res.* 2019; **21**: 41–7.
- 46 Warner K. How to think not feel about tobacco harm reduction. *Nicotine Tob. Res.* 2018; **21**: 1299–309.
- 47 Levy DT, Borland R, Lindblom EN, Goniewicz ML, Meza R, Holford TR, Yuan Z, Luo Y, O'Connor RJ, Niaura R et al. Potential

- deaths averted in USA by replacing cigarettes with e-cigarettes. *Tob. Control* 2018; **27**: 18–25.
- 48 Gao W, Sanna M, Huang LL, Chiu YW, Chen YH, Chiou HY. Juggling two balls-smoking (re)normalization and harm reduction: ecigarettes-facts and misconceptions in Taiwan. *Asia Pac. J. Public Health* 2018: **30**: 328–31.
- 49 Miech R, Patrick ME, O'Malley PM, Johnston LD. What are kids vaping? Results from a national survey of US adolescents. *Tob. Control* 2017; 24: 386-91.
- 50 Dutra LM, Glantz SA. E-cigarettes and national adolescent cigarette use: 2004-2014. *Pediatrics* 2017; 139: e20162450.
- 51 Etter JF. Gateway effects and electronic cigarettes. *Addiction* 2018; 113: 1776–83.
- 52 Gentry S, Fourouhi NG, Notley C. Are electronic cigarettes an effective aid to smoking cessation or reduction among vulnerable groups? A systematic review of quantitative and qualitative evidence. *Nicotine Tob. Res.* 2018; 21: 606–16.
- 53 Caponnetto P, Auditore R, Russo C, Cappello GC, Polosa R. Impact of an electronic cigarette on smoking reduction and cessation in schizophrenic smokers: a prospective 12-month pilot study. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 2013; 10: 446-61.
- 54 O'Brien B, Knight-West O, Walker N, Parag V, Bullen C. E-cigarettes versus NRT for smoking reduction or cessation in people with mental illness: secondary analysis of data from the ASCEND trial. *Tob. Induc. Dis.* 2015; **13**: 5.
- 55 Stein MD, Caviness C, Grimone K, Audet D, Anderson BJ, Bailey GL. An open trial of electronic cigarettes for smoking cessation among methadone-maintained smokers. *Nicotine Tob. Res.* 2016; **18**: 1157–62.
- 56 Truman P, Gilmour M, Robinson G. Acceptability of electronic cigarettes as an option to replace tobacco smoking for alcoholics admitted to hospital for detoxification. N. Z. Med. J. 2018; 131: 22-8
- 57 Valentine G, Hefner K, Jatlow P, Rosenheck R, Gueorguieva R, Sofuoglu M. Impact of e-cigarettes on smoking and related outcomes in veteran smokers with psychiatric comorbidity. *J. Dual Diagn.* 2018; **14**: 2–13.
- 58 Hickling L, Perez-Iglesias R, McNeill A, Dawkins L, Moxham J, Ruffell T, Sendt K, McGuire P. A pre-post pilot study of electronic cigarettes to reduce smoking in people with severe mental illness. *Psychol. Med.* 2019; 49: 1033–40.
- 59 Siu AL, U.S. Preventative Services Task Force. Behavioral and pharmacotherapy interventions for tobacco smoking cessation in adults, including pregnant women: U.S. Preventive Services Task Force recommendation statement. Ann. Intern. Med. 2015; 163: 622-34.
- 60 Meurk C, Ford P, Sharma R, Fitzgerald L, Gartner C. Views and preferences for nicotine products as an alternative to smoking: a focus group study of people living with mental disorders. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 2016; 13: 1166.

- 61 Tucker MR, Kivell BM, Laugesen M, Grace RC. Changes to smoking habits and addiction following tobacco excise tax increases: a comparison of Māori, Pacific and New Zealand European smokers. *Aust. N. Z. J. Public Health* 2017; **41**: 92–8.
- 62 Bowker K, Orton S, Cooper S, Naughton F, Whitemore R, Lewis S, Bauld L, Sinclair L, Coleman T, Dickinson A *et al.* Views on and experiences of electronic cigarettes: a qualitative study of women who are pregnant or have recently given birth. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth* 2018; **18**: 233.
- 63 Wigginton B, Gartner C, Rowlands IJ. Is it safe to vape? Analyzing online forums discussing e-cigarette use during pregnancy. Womens Health Issues 2017: 27: 93-9.
- 64 Bhandari N, Day K, Payakachat N, Franks A, McCain K, Ragland D. Use and risk perception of electronic nicotine delivery systems and tobacco in pregnancy. Womens Health Issues 2018; 28: 251-7.
- 65 McCubbin A, Fallin-Bennett A, Barnett J, Ashford K. Perceptions and use of electronic cigarettes in pregnancy. *Health Educ. Res.* 2017; 32: 22–32.
- 66 Prochaska JJ, Grana RA. E-cigarette use among smokers with serious mental illness. PLoS One. 2014; 9: e113013.
- 67 Spears CA, Jones D, Weaver SR, Pechacek TF, Eriksen MP. Use of electronic nicotine delivery systems among adults with mental health conditions. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 2016; **14**: 10.
- 68 Gubner NR, Pagona A, Tajima B, Guydish J. A comparison of daily versus weekly electronic cigarette users in treatment for substance abuse. *Nicotine Tob. Res.* 2018; 20: 636–42.
- 69 Stein M, Caviness C, Grimone K, Audet D, Borges A, Anderson B. E-cigarette knowledge, attitudes, and use in opioid dependent smokers. J. Subst. Abuse Treat. 2015; 52: 73-7.
- 70 Guydish J, Tajima B, Pramod S, Le T, Gubner NR, Campbell B, Roman P. Use of multiple tobacco products in a national sample of persons enrolled in addiction treatment. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2016: 166: 93-9.
- 71 Cockburn N, Gartner C, Ford PJ. Smoking behaviour and preferences for cessation support among clients of an Indigenous communitycontrolled health service. *Drug Alcohol Rev.* 2018; 37: 676–82.

Supplementary Information

Additional supplementary information can be accessed via the *html* version of this article at the publisher's website.

Appendix S1. Working Party Membership and Conflict of Interest Declarations.

Appendix S2. Methodology.

Appendix S3. Outbreak of acute lung injury associated with ecigarette use.